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 Defendant Dezenhall Resources, through counsel, Carr Maloney P.C. responds to 

Plaintiff Greenpeace, Inc.’s Opposition to Dezenhall’s Motion to Dismiss as follows: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

In both its Complaint and its Opposition to Dezenhall’s Motion to Dismiss, Greenpeace 

attempts to tell a juicy tale of how Dezenhall (a nationally recognized communications firm that 

assists clients with crisis management, public affairs and training services) conspired with 

CONDEA Vista (now Sasol North America) and the individuals of Beckett Brown International 

(BBI) to “undertake clandestine and unlawful activities that included misappropriation and theft 

of confidential information of trade secrets, unlawful surveillance, misuse of law enforcement 

personnel, and, in all likelihood, unlawful breaking and entering into Greenpeace offices and 

other locations” to secure Greenpeace’s confidential information.  Greenpeace Opp. at p. 1.  

Unfortunately for Greenpeace, however, Greenpeace’s claims against Dezenhall do not rise 

above a sensational tale, in which Dezenhall is not even an appropriate character. 

As Greenpeace concedes, Dezenhall’s motion to dismiss must be granted if Greenpeace’s 

factual allegations are not enough “to raise a right to relief above the speculative level on the 

assumption that all the allegations in the complaint are true (even if doubtful in fact).”  

Greenpeace Opp. at p. 12 quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 5444, 555 (2007). 

In this case, Greenpeace fails to meet the Twombly standard as to Dezenhall.  As admitted 

in its opposition to Dezenhall’s motion to dismiss, and discussed more fully below, once you  

discard Greenpeace’s conclusory statements and legal conclusions (which according to Ashcroft 

v. Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009), need not be accepted as truth and must be supported by 

independent factual allegations), the only actual assertions against Dezenhall are: (1) they 

retained the services of BBI, a private security firm; (2) they paid for the services of BBI; and (3) 
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BBI reported to Dezenhall information obtained as a result of that engagement.     Greenpeace, 

itself, admits that simply hiring someone to conduct surveillance can be a lawful tactic.  See 

Complaint at ¶168.   

In other words, all allegations of unlawful activity against Dezenhall are strictly based 

upon the purported actions of others, and Greenpeace fails to assert any facts supporting an even 

an inference that Dezenhall knew of the alleged unlawful actions. Specifically, Greenpeace fails 

to provide facts to support even an inference that Dezenhall:  (1) had any knowledge of unlawful 

or illegal behavior by BBI; (2) had any part in directing the alleged illegal affairs at issue in this 

case; (3) engaged in a pattern of criminal conduct constituting a RICO violation; or (4) conspired 

to commit common law torts.   Instead, Greenpeace attempts to rely on a “mosaic” of allegations 

against other Defendants to implicate Dezenhall. Greenpeace Opp. at p. 3.   Greenpeace’s 

attempts, however, fail according to Twombly. 

II. ARGUMENT 

A. Greenpeace’s RICO Claims Are Deficient as a Matter of Law 
 
Greenpeace asserts that, by simply retaining the services of BBI, paying for those 

services and receiving information as a result, Dezenhall directly violated the Racketeering and 

Corrupt Influenced Organizations Act (RICO) by: purportedly engaging in a “pattern of 

racketeering activity” in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1962(c) and “conspiring to violate” RICO 

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1962(d).   Both claims must be dismissed, however, because - even 

accepting every fact in the Complaint as true - Greenpeace has failed to state a claim upon which 

relief can be granted under either section of the RICO statute.    

Subsection (c) of 18 U.S.C §1962 states, in part: “It shall be unlawful for any person 

employed by or associated with any enterprise engaged in, or the activities of which affect, 
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interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of 

such enterprise's affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). “The 

four elements of Section 1962(c) are ‘(1) conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4) of 

racketeering activity.’” See, U.S. Fire Ins. Co. v. United Limousine Serv., Inc., 303 F.Supp.2d 

432, 451 (S.D.N.Y.2004). “The elements of section 1962(c) must be established as to each 

individual defendant.” Id.   

Paragraph (d) states that it “shall be unlawful for any person to conspire to violate any 

provision of §1962(a)-(c).” See 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).   In the context of a motion to dismiss for 

failure to state a claim under §1962(d), the “complaint must allege some factual basis for a 

finding of a conscious agreement among the defendants.” Hecht v. Commerce Clearing House, 

897 F.2d 21, 26 n. 4 (2d Cir.1990)); see also Schmidt v. Fleet Bank, 16 F.Supp.2d 340, 354 

(S.D.N.Y.1998) (“Bare and conclusory allegations are insufficient to withstand a motion to 

dismiss and a plaintiff must plead facts sufficient to show that each defendant knowingly agreed 

to participate in the [RICO] conspiracy.”). 

1. Greenpeace Fails to State a Claim against Dezenhall based upon 18 
U.S.C. §1962(c) 
 

To establish a RICO violation under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), a plaintiff must show: “(1) that 

the defendant (2) through the commission of two or more acts (3) constituting a ‘pattern’ (4) of 

‘racketeering activity’ (5) directly or indirectly invests in, or participates in (6) an ‘enterprise’ (7) 

the activities of which affect interstate or foreign commerce.” Moss v. Morgan Stanley Inc., 719 

F.2d 5, 17 (2d Cir.1983). To meet this burden, Greenpeace must assert facts indicative of a 

violation of one or more of a limited class of statutorily delineated “predicate acts.”  18 U.S.C. 

§1961(1); Hemi Group, LLC v. City of New York, 130 S. Ct. 983, 987 (2010).  Greenpeace must  
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also assert facts sufficiently alleging the “commission of at least two predicate offenses on a 

specified list” to establish a “pattern of racketeering activity.”  Edmondson & Gallagher v. Alban 

Towers Tenants Ass’n, 48 F.3d 1260, 1264 (D.C. Cir. 1995).   As demonstrated by its Complaint, 

and left uncured by its Opposition to Dezenhall’s Motion to Dismiss, Greenpeace fails to meet 

these requirements for several reasons. 

a) Greenpeace Fails to Allege Sufficient Facts to Support a Claim 
that Dezenhall “directed” any of the Alleged Acts. 

 
As Greenpeace’s Opposition explains, Section 1962(c) makes it unlawful “for any person 

employed by or associated with any enterprise…to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, 

in the conduct of such enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity. . . ” 18 

U.S.C. §1962(c); see, also, Greenpeace Opp. at p. 22.  In support of a claim that there exists a 

RICO enterprise, a plaintiff must also plead that each defendant participated in the “operation or 

management” of the enterprise.  First Capital Asset Mgmt., Inc. v. Satinwood, Inc., 385 F.3d 159, 

175-6 (2d Cir.2004). This requires a showing that each had “some part” in “directing the affairs 

of the enterprise.” Reves v. Ernst & Young, 507 U.S. 170, 179, 113 S.Ct. 1163, 122 L.Ed.2d 525 

(1993). While each defendant need not have primary responsibility for the functioning of the 

enterprise, each must, at least, have some part in directing the affairs of the alleged unit.  

DeFalco v. Bernas, 244 F.3d 286 306 (2d Cir.2001)309.  As Greenpeace also admits, to be 

liable, “‘a covered party must have some part in directing [the enterprise’s] affairs.’”  Id. at p. 23. 

Greenpeace’s claim against Dezenhall lacks any facts supportive of its assertions that 

Dezenhall “directed” the enterprise’s affairs.  For example, Greenpeace’s Complaint is replete 

with claims such as:  “Each of these tactics – stealing property as participants in D-lines, 

surveiling Greenpeace and its affiliates, and maintaining communication between different  

 

Case 1:10-cv-02037-RMC   Document 73    Filed 04/08/11   Page 9 of 27

http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?tf=-1&rs=WLW11.01&referencepositiontype=S&serialnum=2001226480&fn=_top&sv=Split&referenceposition=306&pbc=F0AF9B5B&tc=-1&ordoc=2019715258&findtype=Y&db=506&utid=1&vr=2.0&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&mt=DistrictOfColumbia


5 
 

members of the enterprise’s hierarchy – were executed at the direction of Dezenhall and  

CONDEA Vista.”  Greenpeace’s Opp. at p. 24.  However, when Greenpeace articulated how 

Dezenhall allegedly “directed” the alleged unlawful activities, the best Greenpeace had to offer 

was that Dezenhall “ma[de] clear the nature of the information they wanted to secure.”  See, 

Greenpeace’s Opp. at p. 5, citing Compl. at ¶72 and ¶78.  By Greenpeace’s own admission, 

however, this is not even a “fact.” 

According to Greenpeace’s Opposition, CONDEA Vista, NOT Dezenhall, told BBI to 

“find out what you can find out.”  See, Greenpeace’s Opp. at p. 5 (“CONDEA Vista gave BBI a 

broad mandate: “find out what you can find out.”).  There is no allegation that Dezenhall made 

any statements regarding the nature of the information they wanted to secure.   

Absent Greenpeace’s admittedly groundless accusation that Dezenhall directed the nature 

of the information it wanted, the only other facts on which Greenpeace bases its §1962(c) RICO 

violation claims against Dezenhall are: that Dezenhall insisted on “intentionally vague” invoices, 

paid those invoices and received briefings on information received.  Id. at p. 25.  Clearly, these 

facts are insufficient to support a claim that Dezenhall “directed” any of the unlawful or illegal 

activities that form the basis of the RICO or tort claims.  As a matter of fact, Greenpeace readily 

admits that “[o]n its own, this conduct may not be sufficient to show liability. . .”  Id.  

Greenpeace then goes on to argue that this Court should infer from these insufficient facts that 

Dezenhall must have provided direction to BBI employees in carrying out their illegal activities.   

However, what Greenpeace actually requests is not for the court to make a reasonable 

inference based upon facts, but rather a speculation based upon a lack of sufficient allegations.  

As Greenpeace itself pointed out, speculation cannot be the basis of a valid claim.  Greenpeace’s 

§1962(c) claim against Dezenhall, therefore, must be dismissed. 
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b) Greenpeace Fails to State Sufficient Facts to Support a Claim 
that Dezenhall Transported Stolen Goods in Violation of 18 
U.S.C. §2314. 
 

Even if Greenpeace did allege sufficient facts to support an inference that Dezenhall 

directed BBI’s illegal or unlawful activities, Greenpeace fails to allege sufficient facts to support 

a claim that Dezenhall transported stolen goods in violation of 18 U.S.C. §2314.  The first 

“predicate act” Greenpeace alleges Dezenhall committed is the interstate transportation of stolen 

goods in violation of 18 U.S.C. §2314.  Greenpeace asks this Court to infer that Dezenhall 

directed BBI employees to remove internal Greenpeace documents from Greenpeace’s recycling 

bins and/or dumpsters and then carry those documents to BBI’s Maryland office. Even assuming 

this to be true, which Dezenhall vehemently denies, Greenpeace has failed to demonstrate, 

through its Complaint or its Opposition to Dezenhall’s Motion to Dismiss, that the purported 

stolen items – internal Greenpeace documents – have a “value of $5000 or more” as required by 

18 U.S.C. §2314. 

In fact, despite the holding in United State v. Hassel, 341 F.2d 427, 430 (4th Cir. 1965) 

that the transported goods have a value of $5,000 or more “is an essential element of [§2314],” 

as well as Abbott v. United States, 239 F.2d 310, 312 (5th Cir. 1956) in which “value in excess of 

$5,000.00” is identified as an “indispensible ingredient” of the crime of interstate transportation 

of stolen property, Greenpeace admits that “[t]he Complaint does not explicitly state that 

Greenpeace’s stolen documents and business information were worth $5,000.00.” This 

admission alone warrants dismissal of this claim.  See Greenpeace Opp. at p. 29.   

In a fruitless attempt to cure the obvious deficiency in its pleading, Greenpeace asks this 

court to speculate, beyond reason, that because “Defendants” [not just Dezenhall] paid “hundreds 

of thousands of dollars” for the services provided by BBI, that Greenpeace’s documents must 
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have the same value.  Opp. to Mot. To Dismiss at p. 29.  Greenpeace attempts to rely upon 

United States v. Bottone, 365 F.2d 389, 393 (2d Cir. 1966) to support its position that the value 

of services rendered can be used to infer the value of purported goods.  Bottone, however, does 

not support Greenpeace’s position.   

In Bottone, the convictions arose from a scheme for the extraction of microorganisms 

used in the production of three antibiotics and a steroid, as well as instructions for the drugs' 

manufacture.  The enterprise accused of stealing the cultures and the documents were able to 

actually sell the cultures and the copies for exportation to Europe.  The court found, in that case, 

the documents had a value of $5,000.00 or more because European drug manufacturers were 

willing to pay five and six figures for those documents themselves on the thieves’ market.  

Bottone is simply not comparable to this case.  In this case, there is no allegation that the 

documents themselves were bought by the Defendants.  In fact, there is no allegation that any 

Defendant offered money in exchange for any document allegedly taken from Greenpeace.  

Instead, there is a simple allegation that Dezenhall paid for lawfully obtained services and that 

those services were valued at six (6) figures.   

While Greenpeace’s argument is creative, it is not enough to cure the fatal flaw in 

Greenpeace’s claim against Dezenhall for a RICO violation based upon the interstate 

transportation of stolen goods valued at $5,000.00 or more in violation of 18 U.S.C. §2314.  

When Congress wrote 18 U.S.C. §2314, it limited it to the transport of "goods, wares, 

merchandise, securities or money, of the value of $5,000."  Nowhere in the statute is the term 

"value" defined by what a defendant pays to transport or obtain the item.  Instead, the term 

"value" is defined by statute to be "market value."  18 U.S.C. §2311.  In other words, the 
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determining factor as to whether something meets the statutory definition of a "good, wares [or] 

merchandise" is whether it is "ordinarily bought and sold in commerce" for more than $5,000.00   

In fact, Greenpeace acknowledges in its Opposition that “Courts agree that for a stolen 

item to fall within the scope of the statute, it must ordinarily be the subject of commerce.”  

Greenpeace Opp. at p. 30 citing In re Vericker, 446 F.2d 244, 248 (2d Cir. 1971) and United 

States v. Seagraves, 265 F.2d 876, 880 (3d Cir. 1959).  However, in a feigned attempt to 

convince this court that Greenpeace’s documents, which Greenpeace admits were mostly 

removed from recycling bins and dumpsters, should be deemed “the subject of commerce,” 

Greenpeace relies on a District Court case out of the Southern District of New York.  That case 

held that a legal team’s trial plan was “an ordinary subject of commerce, created for a 

commercial purpose and carrying inherent commercial value at least as to the persons directly 

interested in the matter.”  Greenpeace’s Opp. at p. 31 citing United States v. Farraj, 142 F. Supp. 

2d 484 (S.D.N.Y. 2001).  Unlike Farraj, however, this case does not contain a single allegation 

that Greenpeace’s documents were created for a commercial purpose.  Instead, the documents at 

issue in this case were internal Greenpeace documents.  Therefore, Farraj simply does not apply.   

In sum, Greenpeace’s claim that Dezenhall violated RICO by transporting stolen goods in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §2314 must be dismissed.  Greenpeace has not alleged that the 

information allegedly stolen and transported across state lines were goods in accordance with 18 

U.S.C. §2314 or that, even if they were goods, they had a value of at least $5,000.00. 

c) Greenpeace Fails to State Sufficient Facts to Support a Claim 
that Dezenhall Committed Wire Fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§1343 

 
 As with the RICO claim based upon 18 U.S.C §2314, Greenpeace’s claim that Dezenhall 

committed wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1343 must be dismissed because Greenpeace 
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fails to allege sufficient facts to support even an inference that Dezenhall directed the alleged 

unlawful acts.  See, Kivisto v. Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone, PLC, Slip Copy, 2011 WL 

207898 C.A.11 (Fla.),201 (“[A] plaintiff must allege, as to each defendant, ‘(1) the precise 

statements, documents, or misrepresentations made; (2) the time, place, and person responsible 

for the statement; (3) the content and manner in which these statements misled the Plaintiffs; and 

(4) what the defendants gained by the alleged fraud… In a case involving multiple defendants, 

the complaint must not lump together all of the defendants, as ‘the complaint should inform each 

defendant of the nature of his alleged participation in the fraud.’  Id.  quoting Ambrosia Coal & 

Constr. Co. v. Morales, 482 F.3d 1309, 1317 (11th Cir.2007) (quotation omitted). 

Even if Greenpeace did allege sufficient facts to support an inference that Dezenhall 

directed BBI’s illegal or unlawful activities, however, Greenpeace’s claim that Dezenhall 

violated 18 U.S.C. §1343 fails on other grounds. 

 As Dezenhall points out in its Motion to Dismiss, and as Greenpeace concedes in its 

Opposition, Greenpeace’s claim must meet a more demanding standard because a complaint 

must state with particularity the circumstances constituting fraud.  See, Dezenhall’s Mot. To Dis.  

at p. 15; see also Greenpeace’s Opp. at p. 32 (“These allegations meet the heightened pleading 

standard required for fraud claims.”).  At a minimum, Greenpeace must state the “time, place and 

content” of the fraud alleged and “what was retained or given up as a consequence of the fraud.”  

Bates v. Northwestern Human Servs., Inc., 466 F. Supp. 2d 69, 89 (D.D.C. 2006)(quoting United 

States ex rel. Williams v. Martin-Baker Aircraft Co., 389 F.3d 1251, 1256 (D.C. Cir. 2004).   

 Based upon Greenpeace’s Opposition and the Complaint, the entire pool of facts upon 

which Greenpeace relies to support a claim of mail fraud consists of allegations that BBI 

coordinated the infiltration of CLEAN, a Greenpeace ally, and allegedly reported to “the 
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Defendants” information obtained about Greenpeace by the alleged infiltrator (Rogers) while 

working with CLEAN.  See, Complaint at ¶66-67.  Plaintiff claims that this is enough to meet the 

heightened pleading standard for fraud.  See, Greenpeace’s Opp. at p. 32-33.  Greenpeace is 

wrong.   

 Greenpeace’s alleged facts do not state the time, place or content of the fraud.  In fact, 

Greenpeace fails to allege Dezenhall had knowledge of, or involvement in, the alleged fraudulent 

acts.  Instead, Greenpeace would again have the Court speculate that because Dezenhall hired 

BBI, Dezenhall had to have known the details of each tactic used by BBI to obtain information.  

That is an irrational leap that this Court simply cannot make. 

 This case is the perfect example of why courts are “particularly sensitive” to attempts to 

bootstrap a RICO claim from vague allegations of mail or wire fraud and have required “specific 

allegations as to which defendant caused what to be mailed . . . and when and how each mailing  

. . . furthered the fraudulent scheme.”  Bates 466 F.Supp. at 89-90 (quoting Gotham Print, Inc. v. 

American Speedy Printing Ctrs., 863 F. Supp. 447, 458 (E.D. Mich. 1994).  In this case, 

Greenpeace makes no allegation that Dezenhall caused Rogers to infiltrate CLEAN, that 

Dezenhall caused Rogers to report information about Greenpeace while working at CLEAN, that 

Dezenhall caused any of the documents to be emailed from CLEAN to BBI, the date the alleged 

fraudulent scheme commenced, or the time, place or content of any of the alleged transmissions. 

 Even if Greenpeace did sufficiently allege that Dezenhall committed wire fraud, which it 

has not, its claim fails because the alleged fraud was committed on CLEAN, not Greenpeace.  

Greenpeace alleges that Rogers infiltrated CLEAN under fraudulent circumstances to obtain 

confidential information.  Greenpeace does not allege facts to support a claim that the fraudulent 

acts were directed at Greenpeace, or that the alleged ill-gotten information was Greenpeace’s, as 
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opposed to CLEAN’s.  Id. at p. 91.  Accordingly, Greenpeace’s claim against Dezenhall for a 

RICO violation based upon 18 U.S.C. §1343 must also be dismissed as a matter of law. 

2. Greenpeace Fails to State a Claim against Dezenhall based upon 18 
U.S.C. §1962(d) 

 

 In its Opposition, Greenpeace opens the door to Dezenhall’s substantive argument that 

Greenpeace has failed to state a claim against Dezenhall pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1962(d),  

"[B]ecause the core of a RICO civil conspiracy is an agreement to commit predicate acts, a 

RICO civil conspiracy complaint, at the very least, must allege specifically such an agreement." 

Tel-Phonic Services, Inc. v. TBS International, Inc., 975 F.2d 1134, 1140 (5th Cir.1992)  (citing 

Hecht v. Commerce Clearing House, Inc., 897 F.2d 21, 25 (2d Cir.1990)).  While Greenpeace 

has pled the conclusory allegation that Dezenhall "conspired" with BBI and CONDEA Vista, 

nowhere does it allege facts implying any agreement by Dezenhall to commit predicate acts of 

racketeering.  As stated before, the entirety of facts against Dezenhall are that Dezenhall hired 

BBI to obtain information, paid for those services, and received reports regarding information 

BBI received.  There are no specific allegations whatsoever that Dezenhall had actual knowledge 

of the predicate acts of racketeering, let alone agreed to commit such predicate acts.  

Greenpeace’s claim against Dezenhall for a RICO claim based upon 18 U.S.C. §1962(d) also 

fails as a matter of law. 

B. Greenpeace’s Tort Claims Are Deficient as a Matter of Law 
 
Greenpeace does not allege Dezenhall directly committed any of the five (5) torts 

(trespass, invasion of privacy by intrusion, conversion, trespass to chattel and misappropriation 

of trade secrets).  Accordingly, the only plausible theory pursuant to which Greenpeace is 

attempting to hold Dezenhall liable for these torts is one of conspiracy.    
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For the same reasons Greenpeace has failed to assert sufficient facts to demonstrate that 

Dezenhall either directed a pattern of racketeering activity or conspired to commit a pattern of  

racketeering activity, Greenpeace has failed to assert sufficient facts to support an allegation that 

Dezenhall conspired to commit any of the torts.  Greenpeace simply does not set forth the facts 

to support the “unlawful agreement” that is at the heart of such a claim. 

 In its Opposition, Greenpeace does not dispute that the sina qua non of a conspiracy 

claim is an unlawful agreement.  “A civil conspiracy is a combination of two or more persons 

acting in concert to commit an unlawful act, or to commit a lawful act by unlawful means, the 

principal element of which is an agreement between the parties to inflict a wrong against or 

injury upon another, and an overt act that results in that damage.”  Brady v. Livingwood, 360 F. 

Supp. 2d 94, 104 (D.D.C. 2004)(internal quotations & citation omitted).   To properly plead an 

unlawful agreement, Greenpeace must assert the time, place and persons involved in reaching the 

unlawful agreement.  Acosta Orellena v. Croplife Int’l, 711 F.Supp.2d 81, 113 (D.D.C. 

2010)(quoting Graves v. United States, 961 F.Supp. 314, 320 (D.D.C. 1997); see, also, 

McCreary v. Heath, No. 04-0623 PLF, 2005 WL 3276257, at *5 (D.D.C. Sept. 26, 

2005)(dismissing complaint that “fail[ed] to allege the existence of any events, conversations, or 

documents indicating that there was ever a ‘meeting of the minds’ between any of the defendants 

to [commit an unlawful act]”).  Greenpeace has repeatedly failed to meet that burden with 

respect to Dezenhall. 

Again, the allegations against Dezenhall (disregarding the conclusory allegations of 

“unlawful” and “illegal” activity) demonstrate nothing more than Dezenhall retained BBI as 

private investigators, paid BBI and received information from BBI.  It cannot be reasonably 

disputed that mere allegations of legally retaining private investigators (who are licensed and 
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regulated by the states in which they operate) to gather information or conduct surveillance, and 

then paying those investigators for gathering such information or conducting surveillance are 

insufficient to claim that Dezenhall participated in an unlawful conspiracy.  Simply stated, 

Greenpeace has not alleged any facts to support a claim that there was a ‘meeting of the minds’ 

between Dezenhall and any of the defendants to commit any of the torts. 

Greenpeace has not attempted to, because it cannot, distinguish this case from the case of 

Steele v. city of Dan Diego, 726 F.Supp.2d 1172 (S.D. Cal. 2010).  As explained in Dezenhall’s 

motion to dismiss, Steele involved a divorce attorney accused of conspiring with the private 

investigators he hired to obtain information about an opponent in litigation and instructing the 

investigators to “ascertain incriminating evidence” about the individual.  While the court in that 

case found that the plaintiff did state an actionable claim against the private investigators that 

were hired, and several police officers, involved in the scheme to engage in alleged unlawful 

investigative tactics, the court refused to allow plaintiff to include in the conspiracy the attorney 

who retained the private investigators.    The court held:   

Retaining a private investigator to gather “incriminating evidence” 
is not, in and of itself, an unlawful objective that can serve as the 
basis of a conspiracy claim.  Indeed, private investigators are 
retained by attorneys every day to gather incriminating evidence. 

 
Id. At 1183.  The only difference between the Steele case and this one is the profession of the 

entity retaining the services of the private investigator.  Steele should be applied in this case, and 

the tort claims against Dezenhall should be summarily dismissed. 

 Even if the tort counts are not summarily dismissed on the ground that Greenpeace has 

failed to state sufficient facts to support a claim that Dezenhall conspired with the other 

Defendants to commit tortuous activity, several of the individual torts must be dismissed for 

independent reasons. 
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1. Greenpeace Fails to State a Claim for Invasion of Privacy 
 

Greenpeace appears to rely upon the court’s statement in United States v. Hubbard, 650 

F.2d 293, 306 (D.C. Cir. 1980) - “[w]hether and to what extent the privacy interests protected by 

state law may be asserted by corporate bodies is still unsettled” -- to stand for the legal 

determination that corporate bodies have a right to assert claims for invasion of privacy interests.   

That is not the case.  Instead, if this court were to apply the statement in Hubbard, (as opposed to 

the plethora of cases throughout the country in which it is held that corporate entities do not have 

an actionable claim for invasion of privacy, see Dezenhall Mot. to Dis. at p.27), this court is 

required to consider the nature and purpose of the corporate entity at issue in this case.  Id. At p. 

306 (“…the nature and purpose of the corporate entity and the nature of the interest sought to be 

protected will determine the question whether under the given facts the corporation per se has a 

protectable privacy interest.”). 

As Greenpeace explains in their Introduction to its Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss, 

Greenpeace is an entity whose primary purpose is to shape public opinion.  The information they 

gather is prepared to present to the public.  Therefore, the nature and purpose of the corporate 

entity is a very public purpose, rendering a protectable privacy interests inapplicable.  

Greenpeace’s claim for invasion of privacy fails. 

2. Greenpeace Fails to State a Claim for Conversion 
 

In its Motion to Dismiss, Dezenhall explained that the District of Columbia does not 

recognize a cause of action for conversion of the type of “intellectual property” identified by 

Greenpeace.  See Dezenhall Mot. to Dis. at p. 28, citing 3D Global Soluntions, Inc. v. MVM, Inc., 

552 F.Supp.2d 1, 4 (D.D.C.).   In 3D Global, the Court stated, “[n]either District of Columbia 

nor Virginia law recognizes a cause of action for conversion of intangible property.”  Id.  The 
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Court went on to recognize that intangible property includes documents that only have value 

because they contain proprietary information.  Id.   

In a failed attempt to avoid dismissal of its Conversion claim based upon 3D Global, 

Greenpeace cites Pearson v. Dodd, 410 F.2d 701 (D.C. Cir. 1969) cert. den., 395 U.S. 947 

(1969). However, the very quote cited by Greenpeace from Pearson supports Dezenhall’s 

position that the Conversion claim must be dismissed.   

The Court in Pearson stated that ideas or information are subject to protection only 

“[w]here information is gathered and arranged at some cost and sold as a commodity on the 

market...”  Id. at p. 707-708.  In this case, there is no allegation that the documents at issue were 

arranged at some cost and sold as a commodity on the market.  Therefore, Greenpeace’s 

conversion claim should be dismissed. 

Greenpeace also attempts to argue that Kaempe v. Myers, 367 F.3d 958 (D.C. Cir. 2004), 

holds that the law is unclear as to whether the District of Columbia would recognize a conversion 

claim for intangible property.   See Greenpeace Opp. at p. 49.  However, as the Court also stated 

in Kaempe, in a case like this the D.C. courts might look for guidance from Maryland.  Id. at p. 

964 (citing Conesco Indus., Ltd. v. Conforti & Eisele, Inc., 627 F.2d 312, 315-16 (D.C.Cir.1980).  

The court goes on to explain that Maryland almost certainly would not recognize a conversion 

claim for intangible property.  Id.  “The Maryland Court of Appeals has held that an action for 

conversion of intangible property will lie only where such property is merged in a transferrable 

document and the document itself is converted.”  Id. citing Allied Inv. Corp. v. Jasen, 354 Md. 

547, 731 A.2d 957, 965 (1999).  Again, Greenpeace’s claim for conversion should be dismissed. 
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3. Greenpeace Fails to State a Claim for Misappropriation of Trade 
Secrets  

In its Motion to Dismiss, Dezenhall argued that “Greenpeace fails to properly plead a 

claim for misappropriation of trade secrets because it fails to actually identify any of the 

supposed trade secrets that were allegedly misappropriated.”  See, Dezenhall Mot. to Dis. at p. 

29-31.    Instead, Greenpeace simply plead broad categories of information (despite having 100 

boxes of documents at its disposal).  Dezenhall also argues that Greenpeace failed to identify 

information with “economic value” to the person who took them, as required by the law of this 

jurisdiction.  Id. at p. 30 citing D.C. Code §36-401(4)(A). 

In response to Dezenhall’s legally sound arguments, Greenpeace simply reiterates the 

insufficiently broad, generic categories Dezenhall initially criticized.  Relying upon a case from 

Wisconsin, Greenpeace maintains that it should not have to plead trade secrets in detail at this 

state of the litigation.  See Greenpeace Opp. at p. 51 citing IDX Sys. Corp. v. Epic Sys. Corp., 

165 F. Supp. 2d 812, 815 (W.D. Wis. 2001) aff’d in part & rev’d in part, 285 F.3d 581 (7th Cir. 

2002).   

Adopting the IDX Sys. standard would be prejudicial to the Defendants.  Instead, this 

court should adopt the holding in Analog Devices, Inc. v. Michalski, 579 S.E.2d 449, 453 (N.C. 

Ct. App. 2003), in which it is stated that “[it] is generally accepted that a plaintiff must identify a 

trade secret with sufficient particularity so as to enable a defendant to delineate that which he is 

accused of misappropriating and a court to determine whether a misappropriation has or is 

threatening to occur.”  To hold otherwise would deprive the Defendants of the right to know the 

extent of the allegations against them and to defend themselves to the fullest extent possible.  

In response to the indisputable element of D.C. law that requires Greenpeace to allege 

that the information had “economic value,” Greenpeace simply states that the information 
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derived value from the fact that the Defendants were willing to pay BBI for its services.  See 

Greenpeace Opp. at p. 51-52.  Greenpeace has again misstated the standard to misdirect the focus 

away from the value of the information, as required by law, to the value of the activity involved 

in obtaining it.   Greenpeace cites no authority to support its position that paying for services 

should translate to the value of the information.   

Instead, Greenpeace cites BlueEarth BioFuels v. Hawaiian Elec. Co., No. 09-00181, 

2011 WL 563766, at *14 (D. Haw. Feb. 8, 2011) in an attempt to compare the information 

allegedly misappropriated in this case to a confidential client list.  In BlueEarth, however, the 

court noted that the identity of the contacts had significant economic value because it gave the 

company that would not otherwise have that information a distinct advantage.  Id.  In this case, 

unlike in BlueEarth, there is no supportable allegation that Dezenhall gained a distinct advantage 

by any of the information it allegedly received from BBI.  As such, BlueEarth does not apply in 

this case.  Greenpeace’s misappropriation claim should be dismissed. 

C.  Greenpeace’s Claims are Barred by the Statutes of Limitations 
 
There is no dispute that Greenpeace’s tort claims are subject to a three year statute of 

limitations, see D.C. Code §§ 12-301, 36-406, while its civil RICO claims are subject to a four 

year statute of limitations, Agency Holding Corp. v. Malley-Duff & Associates, Inc. 483 U.S. 

143, 156 (1987).  There can also be no dispute that if this court finds that Greenpeace did not 

timely file its claims, the court should dismiss the claim at the motion to dismiss stage.  See 

Bleck v. Power, 955 A.2d 712 (D.C. 2008). 

As set forth in Drake v. McNair, 993 A.2d 607, 610 (D.C. 2010), “[a] party with 

immediate suspicions of wrongdoing has an ‘obligation to move promptly and with reasonable 

diligence to inquire further into the matter.’” Id. quoting Estate of Delaney, 819 A.2d at 982. 
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“The discovery rule does not ... give the plaintiff carte blanche to defer legal action indefinitely if 

she knows or should know that she may have suffered injury and that the defendant may have 

caused her harm.”  Drake, 993 A.2d at 610 quoting Hendel v. World Plan Executive Council, 

705 A.2d 656, 661 (D.C.1997); accord, Colbert v. Georgetown University, 641 A.2d 469, 473 

(D.C.1994) (en banc). Moreover, in the context of the RICO claims, the Supreme Court held in 

Klehr v. A.O. Smith Corp., 521 U.S. 179, 194 (1997) that a plaintiff who is not reasonably 

diligent may not assert fraudulent concealment. 

In this case, Greenpeace itself establishes that the limitations period began to run no later 

than 2000.  As such, all claims are barred by their applicable statute of limitations.  According to 

Greenpeace, its campaign against CONDEA Vista occurred between 1998 and 2000.  

Greenpeace also alleges that as a result of the alleged unlawful activities set forth in the 

Complaint, it suffered injury in the form of interference with those exact environmental 

campaigns.  See Comp. at ¶175.  If this is the case, injury was sustained between 1998 and 2000.  

The court, therefore, is left with no other reasonable conclusion but that Greenpeace knew or 

should have known of the injury more than ten years ago.  See Drake, 993 A.2d at 617 (the 

statute of limitations accrued when the plaintiff knew or should have known of the existence and 

source of the injury).  For this reason, Greenpeace’s claims should be dismissed on the ground it 

is barred by the statutes of limitation. 

III. CONCLUSION 

A careful review of Greenpeace’s Complaint, omitting the self-serving but unpersuasive 

adjectives such as “unlawful,” “misappropriated,” and “illegal” reveals that, when it comes to 

Dezenhall, Greenpeace has no facts based upon which it can state a viable claim.  Recognizing 

its facts against Dezenhall are insufficient, Greenpeace attempts to hold Dezenhall responsible 
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for the alleged activities of other parties for which Dezenhall has no direct or vicarious 

responsibility.  Greenpeace has failed to allege facts to support a claim that Dezenhall had any 

knowledge of, authorized, approved or condoned the alleged unlawful activities, had any 

agreement with the other Defendants to commit the unlawful acts or, in any way, directed the 

unlawful activity in question.  For these reasons, Greenpeace’s RICO claims and torts against 

Dezenhall must be dismissed.  Moreover, Greenpeace claims that it suffered injury as a result of 

the alleged unlawful activity in 1998 to 2000, but inexplicably waited more than a decade to file 

the claims.  Clearly, Greenpeace’s claims are time barred.  Greenpeace’s Opposition fails to 

dispute these arguments, and actually, supports them.  As such, all claims against Dezenhall 

should be dismissed. 

         Respectfully submitted, 

          CARR MALONEY P.C. 
       

       
          By:________________________________ 
                 Tina M. Maiolo (#454987) 
                 Paul J. Maloney (#362533) 
      2000 L Street, NW 
      Suite 450 
      Washington, D.C.  20036 
      (202) 310-5500 - Telephone 
      (202) 310-5555 - Facsimile 
      tm@carrmaloney.com 
      pjm@carrmaloney.com 
      ajm@carrmaloney.com 
      Attorneys for Defendant Dezenhall Resources, Ltd. 
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